RECEIVED

Mar 04 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Kirsti F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-000569
Case No. 2019-CP-26-07075

Meswaet Abel, as Personal Representative of the Estate
of Zerihun Wolde and as Natural Parent and Legal
Guardian of Adam Wolde and Wubit Wolde Respondent,

v.

Lack's Beach Service, Inc., City of Myrtle Beach, and
John Doe Lifeguard, Defendants,

Of which Lack's Beach Service is the Appellant,

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

C. Mitchell Brown
Blake T. Williams
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
Post Office Box 11070
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 799-2000

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err by refusing to grant JNOV where:
 - (i) Evidence and testimony of the “dual role” served by Lack’s Beach Service lifeguards did not properly create a jury question for liability in this case;
 - (ii) There was insufficient evidence to create a jury question as to whether Lack’s breached the standard of care or whether any act or omission of Lack’s proximately caused Mr. Wolde’s drowning;
 - (iii) As to the survival claim, there was no evidence of any conscious pain and suffering; and
 - (iv) As to punitive damages, there was no evidence supporting recklessness?

2. Did the trial court err by failing to grant a new trial absolute where:
 - (i) The trial court improperly admitted irrelevant and prejudicial evidence of Lack’s gross sales revenues, statements from a two-decade old administrative proceeding, and inflammatory communications between Lack’s and a lifeguarding certification organization from a decade prior;
 - (ii) There was insufficient evidence supporting punitive damages;
 - (iii) The trial court failed to properly instruct the jury as to punitive damages and the bifurcated nature of the proceedings;
 - (iv) The survival award was excessive and the jury failed to follow the trial court’s instructions, with the jury evaluating survival damages based improperly on mortality tables and motivated by passion and prejudice; and
 - (v) The jury’s punitive damages award was erroneously designed to bankrupt Lack’s as a going concern, against instructions by the trial court;

3. Did the trial court err in its post-judgment review of the punitive damages award, which did not comport with due process and where the trial court failed to fully consider the *Mitchell, Gamble*, and statutory factors?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter arose from the drowning of Zurihun Wolde (“Mr. Wolde”) in a rip current at Myrtle Beach, South Carolina. (Compl.; R. 74.) Appellant Lack’s Beach Service, Inc. (“Lack’s”) contracted with the City of Myrtle Beach to provide lifeguard services on the City’s public beaches pursuant to a Franchise Agreement and South Carolina law. (Franchise Agreement; R. 1740.) Under the Franchise Agreement, Lack’s provided lifeguard services along a thirteen mile stretch of beach and, in exchange, was permitted to derive revenue from engaging in limited commercial sales renting beach equipment. (*See generally id.*)

Meswaet Abel (“Respondent”) filed this wrongful death action against Lack’s and the City of Myrtle Beach on November 1, 2019. Respondent’s Complaint alleged that both Lack’s and the City of Myrtle Beach breached a duty owed to Mr. Wolde to “conduct their water safety program in a reasonably safe manner,” and that Mr. Wolde’s drowning was a proximate cause of those breaches. Respondent’s Complaint pled survival and wrongful death claims, and sought both actual and punitive damages.

The Court granted summary judgment to the City of Myrtle Beach at the pretrial hearing, finding that the discretionary immunity exception applied. (Transcript of July 22, 2022 Pretrial Hearing 3:12-4:9; R. 91-92.) There was no appeal of this ruling by Respondent.

The matter proceeded to trial against Lack’s from July 25 and July 29, 2022. (Trial Transcripts; R. 143, 328, 520, 663, 1001.) At the conclusion of trial, the jury returned a verdict in favor of Respondent and awarded \$3.73 million on the survival claim, \$10 million on the wrongful death claim, and \$7 million in punitive damages. (Jury Verdict; R. 52.) On August 1, 2022, the trial court entered a Form 4 judgment stating the jury had rendered a verdict in this amount. (Form 4 Judgment; R. 50.)

Lack's timely filed post-trial motions for JNOV, a new trial absolute, and a new trial *nisi remittitur*, along with a separate, but concurrently filed, Conditional Motion for Reduction of Damages¹ ("Conditional Motion") to reduce the judgment in accordance with the South Carolina Tort Claims Act's cap on damages if the other motions were denied. (Post-trial Motions; R. 1502, 1517, 1549, 1566.) Respondent meanwhile opposed those motions, and moved to have a receiver appointed and to immediately execute on the judgment, which Lack's opposed. (Mot. to Appoint Receiver; Resp. in Opp'n to Mot. to Appoint Receiver; R. 1347.) Lack's moved for a stay of execution order from the trial court pending the disposition of post-trial motions. (Mot. to Stay; R. 1334.) On March 9, 2023, the trial court held a hearing on all pending motions including the Conditional Motion, the motion to appoint a receiver, and the stay motion. (Hearing Transcript; R. 1116.) During that hearing, and in light of Respondent's position that the Conditional Motion should be denied based on waiver and failure to raise immunity in the Lack's Answer, Lack's orally moved to amend its Answer pursuant to Rule 15(b), SCRPC. (3/9/2023 Hrg. Tr. 48:2-49:6; R. 1163-64.)

On April 10, 2023, the trial court entered an Order denying Lack's motions for JNOV, new trial absolute, and new trial *nisi remittitur*. (Order on Post-Trial Motions; R. 5.) The trial court did

¹ In the Conditional Motion for Reduction of Judgment ("Conditional Motion"), Lack's noted that the trial court should grant its other post-trial motions first, which would moot the arguments raised in the Conditional Motion. (Conditional Motion; R. 1566.) However, Lack's argued that if the court allowed any verdict amount to stand as a judgment, it *must*, at a minimum, reduce the amount of any judgment to the SCTCA cap on actual damages as a matter of law. (*Id.*) Moreover, Lack's argued the court must also remit the punitive damages award to \$0 since the SCTCA does not permit recovery of punitive damages. (*Id.*) As the Conditional Motion detailed, the City of Myrtle Beach properly delegated its governmental power to Lack's and, as a result, the doctrine of derivative sovereign immunity applies. (*Id.*) Because the State of South Carolina has only waived its sovereign immunity subject to the provisions of the SCTCA, the statutory caps of the SCTCA apply to limit Respondent's recovery against Lack's. (*Id.*)

not rule on or address the Conditional Motion or the oral motion to amend the Answer pursuant to Rule 15(b), SCRCP. The trial court also did not rule on the motion to stay execution pending disposition of post-trial motions, nor did the trial court rule on Respondent's motion to appoint a receiver and execute on the judgment. Under these procedural circumstances, Lack's filed a notice of appeal that same day, and filed a new stay motion based on the mandatory stay provisions resulting from an appeal under S.C. Code Ann. § 18-9-130. (Mot. to Stay; R. 1238, 2373.) In the new stay motion, Lack's noted that the Conditional Motion and motion to amend remained pending and awaiting a ruling. (*Id.*) On May 19, 2023, the trial court issued an Order granting the stay motion pursuant to Rule 62(d), SCRCP and S.C. Code Ann. § 18-9-130, and denying Respondent's motion to appoint a receiver. (Order Granting Stay and Denying Motion to Appoint a Receiver; R. 1). The trial court still did not rule on the Conditional Motion or related oral motion to amend.

On June 1, 2023, based on the belief that the trial court was not going to rule on the Conditional Motion or motion to amend, Lack's moved this Court for a limited remand to permit the trial court to rule on those motions. Respondent opposed this motion for limited remand. On August 29, 2023, this Court entered an Order denying a limited remand without prejudice to Lack's arguing that its Conditional Motion and motion to amend remain pending and are properly before the trial court. Consistent with the Conditional Motion and the arguments therein, if Lack's succeeds on appeal and this Court finds that its motion for JNOV or a new trial should have been granted, it will moot the Conditional Motion as there will be no judgment to reduce. Otherwise, the Conditional Motion and related oral motion to amend remain pending before the trial court, to be addressed in the future by that court, should such become necessary.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On August 24, 2018, Mr. Wolde and his two oldest children were visiting Myrtle Beach on vacation. (Compl. ¶¶ 42-43; R. 81.) That afternoon, they entered the water to swim and were caught in a rip current. (Compl. ¶ 45; R. 82.) Mr. Wolde was unable to escape and tragically drowned. (See Compl. ¶¶ 42-43; R. 81.) His children were able to make it to safety. (Compl. ¶ 47; R. 82.)

Mr. Wolde drowned in the general vicinity in front of Lack's lifeguard station L-21. (Trial Tr. 359:10-13; R. 501.) At the time of the incident, lifeguard L-21 was on his regularly scheduled lunch break as provided for by the terms of the Franchise Agreement between Lack's and the City of Myrtle Beach. (Trial Tr. 359:10-13; R. 501.) Lifeguards L-20 and L-22 were tasked with covering that sector of the ocean (the ocean in front of L-21) for the short lunch period while he was away. (Trial Tr. 719:4-8; Franchise Agreement p. 4; R. 861; 1742.) At trial, Respondent offered no direct evidence of what the lifeguards at L-20 and L-22 were doing immediately prior to or during the incident.

Lifeguard L-22's written statement was introduced into evidence wherein he stated that he was explaining the flag system to beachgoers around the time of the incident. (Trial Tr. 823:25-824:3; Def.'s Ex. 7, Stmt. of Lukasz Jaworski; R. 965-66; 2268.) Once he heard the emergency code on the radio at station L-20, he "immediately started running [in] that direction." (*Id.*) A manager for Lack's, Randall Smith, testified that a lifeguard who he believed was L-20 was who he heard call in a Code 3, which is a shore emergency. (*Id.* at 742:1-9; R. 884.) Lifeguard L-22's statement also supported that L-20 called in the Code 3. (Trial Tr. 823:25-824:3; Def.'s Ex. 7; R. 965-66; 2268.) Another Lack's manager, Patrick Flaherty, testified at trial that he arrived on the scene right as Mr. Wolde was being pulled out of the water by lifeguard L-20, a Lack's supervisor, and several bystanders. (Trial Tr. 699:10-18; R. 841.) The supervisor started CPR, and Flaherty

attempted to use an AED device as they worked to try and save Wolde. (*Id.* at 699:19-701:9; R. 841-843.)

Respondent did not present any evidence supporting that lifeguards L-20 or L-22 could have or should have observed Mr. Wolde in distress or that, had they done so, they would have physically been able to reach Mr. Wolde quickly enough to change the outcome.

There were no “bystander” witnesses who testified they heard or observed Mr. Wolde or his children in trouble prior to Mr. Wolde’s submersion and loss of consciousness. Both “bystander” witnesses stated that when they first observed Mr. Wolde, he was in an unconscious and nonresponsive condition. (Trial Tr. 61:24-62:2; 212:13-14; R. 203-04; 354.)

The only evidence presented as to the length of time Mr. Wolde struggled in the water was vague and came from Mr. Wolde’s children. Respondent did not present any non-speculative evidence of how long Mr. Wolde struggled to swim or tread water, or the length of time that passed from the start of the struggle to his submersion and drowning. Further, Respondent did not present any probative evidence detailing the drowning process.

As detailed below, the trial devolved into a referendum on Lack’s overall business practices, its annual revenue, disputes with the United States Lifeguarding Association (“USLA”), worker’s compensation insurance premium disputes, and whether Mr. Lack had misled people in various contexts. Instead of a trial regarding what occurred on the beach the day of this tragic accident and whether any actions of Lack’s were a proximate cause of the drowning, Respondent extensively focused on what they framed as a should-be-prohibited “dual role” served by Lack’s lifeguards, due to their ability to conduct limited commercial sales as part of their job duties under the Franchise Agreement. This was the focus *despite there being no evidence that any of the relevant Lack’s lifeguards were actually engaged in commercial sales at the time of the Wolde*

drowning incident. The trial court permitted Respondent (over objection from Lack's) to introduce highly prejudicial and irrelevant evidence during the liability phase including: (1) Lack's gross sales revenue information for the entire year of 2018, (2) nearly two decade old filings from an administrative law proceeding concerning workers compensation premiums payable by Lack's to cover Lack's lifeguards, and (3) correspondence between Lack's and the USLA and testimony from a USLA representative about Lack's USLA certification and related disputes, all of which predated this incident by a decade. The result was a fundamentally tainted trial and a jury verdict driven by passion and prejudice against Lack's and its founder George Lack. This Court should reverse.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

I. JNOV.

“When reviewing the trial court’s ruling on a motion for directed verdict or a JNOV, this Court must employ the same standard as the trial court by viewing the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” *RFT Mgmt. Co. v. Tinsley & Adams L.L.P.*, 399 S.C. 322, 331–32, 732 S.E.2d 166, 171 (2012). The plaintiff bears the burden to produce affirmative evidence—not mere speculation or the absence of evidence—to support each element of the claim. *Nelson v. Piggly Wiggly Cent., Inc.*, 390 S.C. 382, 389, 701 S.E.2d 776, 779 (Ct. App. 2010). If the plaintiff’s evidence is insufficient to support the jury’s verdict, the trial court should grant JNOV for the defendant. *Richardson v. Piggly Wiggly Cent., Inc.*, 404 S.C. 231, 743 S.E.2d 858 (Ct. App. 2013). Moreover, the court must grant JNOV “if no reasonable jury could have reached the challenged verdict.” *Allegro, Inc. v. Scully*, 418 S.C. 24, 32, 791 S.E.2d 140, 144 (2016). A trial court’s failure to direct a verdict or grant JNOV is reversible error. *Richardson v. Piggly Wiggly Cent., Inc.*, 404 S.C. 231, 743 S.E.2d 858 (Ct. App. 2013).

II. New trial absolute and new trial *nisi remittitur*.

A trial court “may grant a new trial absolute when it finds the evidence does not justify the verdict. *Trivelas v. S.C. Dept. of Transp.*, 357 S.C. 545, 553, 593 S.E.2d 504, 508 (Ct. App. 2004). The trial court possesses broad, inherent authority to grant a new trial for any prejudicial errors committed during the trial as a matter of fundamental fairness. *Ex parte Kent*, 379 S.C. 633, 640-41, 666 S.E.2d 921, 925 (Ct. App. 2008); *see also Palmetto Bank v. Rowland*, 275 S.C. 38, 40, 267 S.E.2d 426, 426 (1980) (upholding trial judge’s grant of motion for new trial where he committed reversible error in excluding a juror based upon a misconception of the law).

A new trial absolute is warranted when the verdict is so excessive that it clearly indicates the amount was the result of passion, caprice, prejudice, partiality, corruption or some other improper motive. *Cock-N-Bull Steak House v. Generali Ins. Co.*, 321 S.C. 1, 466 S.E.2d 727 (1996). The failure of the trial judge to grant a new trial absolute under such circumstances amounts to an abuse of discretion, which will be reversed on appeal. *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Durham*, 314 S.C. 529, 431 S.E.2d 557 (1993). A trial court’s decision to deny a new trial will be reversed if it “is wholly unsupported by the evidence or the conclusion reached was controlled by error of law.” *Dent v. Redd*, 270 S.C. 585, 586, 243 S.E.2d 460, 460 (1978) (citations omitted).

III. Punitive damages.

“In any civil action where punitive damages are claimed, the plaintiff has the burden of proving such damages by clear and convincing evidence.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-33-135. “If there is a claim that an award of punitive damages violates due process, an appellate court examines the trial court’s constitutional review de novo.” *Sea Island Food Grp., LLC v. Yaschik Dev. Co., Inc.*,

433 S.C. 278, 289, 857 S.E.2d 902, 907 (Ct. App. 2021). Under the factors set forth in *Mitchell v. Fortis Ins. Co.*, 385 S.C. 570, 583, 686 S.E.2d 176, 183 (2009), the Court should consider: “(1) the degree of reprehensibility of the defendant’s conduct; (2) the disparity between the actual and potential harm suffered by the plaintiff and the punitive damages award; and (3) the difference between the punitive damages awarded by the jury and the civil penalties authorized or imposed in comparable cases.” *Id.* The Court should also consider the factors required by the punitive damages statute in reviewing a punitive damages award. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-32-520(E)-(F).

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred by failing to grant Lack’s motion for directed verdict and, later, JNOV.

A. The “dual role” was permitted by law, the trial court improperly allowed Respondent to present proof and testimony on this issue, and such could not create a jury question on liability in this case.

1. The dual role was expressly allowed by law and contract.

Respondent’s theory of the case relied heavily on characterizations of Lack’s lifeguards serving a “dual role” and the impropriety of that arrangement. (Pltf. Resp. to Post-trial Motions at 33 (noting that this was a “critical factual component” of their negligence claim); R. 1448.) Respondent argued at trial that because Lack’s lifeguards were permitted to engage in limited commercial activity as part of their duties, that was what the relevant lifeguards were doing at the time of the incident involving Mr. Wolde, and the commercial activity interfered with their work as lifeguards. (*See* Trial Tr. 95:13-97:32; R. 237-239.)

Prior to the start of trial, the trial court acknowledged that “dual role” was generally allowed by law. (Pretrial Hrg. Tr. 45:10-46:13; R. 133-134.) Respondent’s counsel stated that direct evidence would be submitted to allow the jury to conclude that the relevant lifeguards were

engaged in commercial activity at the time of the drowning. (*Id.* at 14:12-17; R. 102.) However, *this evidence was never submitted.*

Importantly, the “dual role” arrangement was expressly permitted by S.C. Code Ann. § 5-7-145 and Lack’s contract with the City of Myrtle Beach. The South Carolina Code allows the City of Myrtle Beach and other coastal municipalities to provide lifeguard and other safety services, to enact and enforce regulations deemed necessary for the safety of all persons on the beach, and either provide lifeguard services through municipal employees or through a service agreement with a private beach safety company. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 5-7-145(A)-(B).² If a municipality elects to use a private company, personnel employed by the company “must be tested and certified as required by the municipality.” *Id.* at (B)(4). The municipality may also grant “the exclusive right to the beach safety company to rent only the beach equipment and to sell only the items to the public on the beach that are allowed by the municipality.” *Id.* at (B)(3).

The Franchise Agreement between the City and Lack’s follows the arrangement permitted by the statute, allowing Lack’s to rent beach equipment in return for its provision of water safety service and other consideration. (*See* Franchise Agreement, §4; R. 1742.) At trial, Respondent was improperly permitted to use the existence of the “dual role” arrangement as a strawman, suggesting that it was something nefarious and inappropriate when, in reality, it was exactly the type of arrangement contemplated by South Carolina law and the City agreement. (*See, e.g.*, Trial

² The City of Myrtle Beach Code of Ordinances provide that “appropriate authorities” may create zones restricting aquatic activities or beachfront activities in “exigent circumstances that may pose a danger to the health, life or safety of any person due to a hazardous condition, hazardous operation, hazardous weather or hazardous structure whether temporary or permanent.” *Id.* § 5-3(C). The Ordinances define “appropriate authorities” to include those who have been “granted lifeguard status under beach franchise agreements.” *Id.* § 5-1. One of the negligent acts alleged by Respondent is that Lack’s should have closed the beach to swimmers entirely at the time of the drowning.

Tr. 310:23-311:14 (questioning George Lack about the dual role, asking whether he attends church and whether the Bible says it is difficult to “serve two masters”); R. 452-453.)

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