RECEIVED

Mar 06 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-CP-26-07075
Appellate Case No. 2023-000569

Meswaet Abel, as Personal Representative of the
Estate of Zerihun Wolde and as Natural Parent and Legal
Guardian of Adam Wolde and Wubit Wolde,.....

Respondent,

v.

Lack's Beach Service, City of Myrtle Beach, and
John Doe Lifeguard, Defendants,

Of which Lack's Beach Service is the.....

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

W. Mullins McLeod, Jr.
H. Cooper Wilson, III
McLeod Law Group, LLC
3 Morris Street, Suite A
Charleston, SC 29403
(843) 277-6655

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

i. Lack's arguments regarding dual-role negligence are meritless.

Lack's takes the untenable position that it should bear no responsibility for Mr. Wolde's tragic and untimely death simply because it followed the requirements of its Franchise Agreement with the City of Myrtle Beach. (Appl. Brief, p. 10). This argument strains credulity considering there was no evidence Lack's even complied with the Franchise Agreement. The evidence at trial instead set forth a different narrative: that Lack's willfully violated the express terms of the Franchise Agreement in numerous particulars.

Further, merely a gauge of *minimum* requirements, the Franchise Agreement is hardly the equivalent of a standard of care. It is well-settled that a party's duty of care to a third party exists independently of any contract.⁶ *Dorrell v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 312, 605 S.E.2d 12 (2004). No contract relieves a private lifeguarding company of its duty to provide lifeguard services with due care. That Lack's relies on the Franchise Agreement to absolve it of its duty of due care underscores the utter absence of care in this case.

What's more, the Franchise Agreement *does not* authorize dual-role nor does it reference the possibility of lifeguards performing beach concessions, *anywhere*. (R. pp. 2144-2158). George Lack even concedes that the Agreement bears no mention of dual-role and further concedes that it instead references lifeguards and beach concessions as distinct and separate functions throughout. (R. p. 477, line 2-p. 480, line 25; p. 483, lines 13-15; 484, lines 5-18; p. 487, line 22-p. 488, line 19). City Manager John Penderson likewise conceded that the Franchise Agreement does not specifically authorize dual-role, agreeing that the term lifeguard appears nowhere in the section authorizing beach concessions. (R. p. 780, lines 17-25). Lack's argument to the contrary is utterly disingenuous.

Given Lack's disregard for the language of the Franchise Agreement with regard to dual-role, it is not surprising that Lack's further neglected to meet the Agreement's minimum requirements. Though Lack's maintains, at page 11 of its brief, that it ensured "its lifeguards had the City-required qualifications at the time of hiring and underwent the necessary training," this was not supported by the evidence. Per the Franchise Agreement, each lifeguard was required to

⁶ In *Dorrell*, the South Carolina Supreme Court addressed this precise issue, finding that a paving company's contract with SCDOT did not limit its liability for its negligence causing injuries to third parties as result of motor vehicle accident; the contract specifically required the paving company to take action necessary to protect the safety of the traveling public, and the paving company had a duty of care to third parties that was independent of its state contract.

“complete a course consisting of a total of not less than 40 hours in open water lifesaving which meet the criteria of the [USLA].” (R. p. 2146, lines 11-14). Lack’s provided *no evidence* that such training ever took place. Rather, the evidence showed that many of the lifeguards, which mostly comprised Eastern European students, were *not even in the country* during Lack’s alleged training. (R. p. 977, line 1-p. 982, line 15). USLA representative Chris Brewster further discredited Lack’s training, testifying that Lack’s lifeguards could *never* satisfy USLA training standards because the lifeguards were trained to perform dual roles—a practice the USLA condemned as unsafe and in direct conflict with the primary job of a lifeguard. (R. p. 620, lines 5-17; p. 637, lines 18-25; p. 646, line 5-p. 648, line 14).

Lack’s argument that the South Carolina Code sanctions the use of lifeguards for conducting beach sales is equally disingenuous. Lack’s asserts on page 10 of its brief that “the ‘dual role’ arrangement was expressly permitted by S.C. Code Ann. § 5-7-145.” However, the South Carolina Code contains no mention of lifeguards performing dual roles. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 5-7-145(A)-(B). Rather, § 5-7-145 merely permits a municipality to outsource lifeguard and other safety services to a private company, and further permits the municipality to grant the private company the exclusive right to rent beach equipment on the beach. Nowhere in § 5-7-145 is there any acknowledgment of the dangerous dual-role practice much less any reference to sanctioning this practice. It further strains credulity to believe the General Assembly would authorize dangerous lifeguarding practices in violation of the well-known standard of care. (*See* R. p. 615, line 15-p. 617, line 2; p. 618, line 22-p. 620, line 17) (lifeguards are not to be assigned tasks other than public safety; assigning lifeguards to watch the water *and* sell beach chairs is inconsistent with USLA standards).

As to Lack's critique of Chandler's testimony, this too is a mischaracterization. Chandler testified he saw the lifeguard talking to beachgoers—engaged in what appeared to be some form of beach concessions or related service—approximately five to ten minutes prior to when he heard yells for help by bystanders. As Wubit and Adam testified, the drowning event was an excruciating 10-15 minutes. Thus, by the time the bystanders called for help, Mr. Wolde, Wubit and Adam would have already been in distress for a prolonged period of time. Chandler's testimony, therefore, directly links the lifeguard's failed response to commercial activity occurring around the time of the Wolde's distress.

To the extent Lack's presented competing testimony that the lifeguard may have been explaining the flag system, it was for the jury to decide whose testimony to believe. *See Curcio v. Caterpillar, Inc.*, 355 S.C. 316, 320, 585 S.E.2d 272, 274 (2003) (“In considering a JNOV, the trial [court] is concerned with the existence of evidence, not its weight.”). Likewise, Lack's attempt to downplay Chandler's testimony by arguing it was speculative that he observed a Lack's lifeguard similarly fails. Any conflict in the evidence presented goes to its weight, which is appropriately reserved for the jury. *Id.* That the jury ultimately determined Chandler's testimony more credible than Lack's is not a basis for challenging the denial of JNOV—it's quite the opposite. *See id.* (“When considering a JNOV, “neither [an appellate] court, nor the trial court has authority to decide credibility issues or to resolve conflicts in the testimony or the evidence.”). Resolving conflicts in the evidence is the seminal job of the jury and the precise reason directed verdict and JNOV are inappropriate in this matter.

Finally, Lack's argument that its personnel intervened during resuscitation efforts on shore is wholly irrelevant. There is no claim or liability question regarding resuscitation efforts. Notwithstanding, this delayed intervention was not until after the rescue efforts by bystanders—

none of whom could find a single lifeguard to assist. Because the referenced evidence supports the inference that a Lack's lifeguard was engaged in the profit generating role of his job instead of responding to Mr. Wolde's distress, the trial court properly denied Lack's motions for directed verdict and JNOV as to dual-role negligence.

B. The trial court correctly submitted proximate cause to the injury based on evidence that Lack's standard of care breaches prevented a proper lifeguard response.

i. Only the grounds raised by Lack's at trial are preserved for appellate review, neither of which supports directed verdict or JNOV.

When Lack's moved for directed verdict on proximate cause at trial, Lack's referenced only two grounds: (1) that "there's no amount of time that the family struggled;" and (2) that there was "no evidence that a lifeguard could get from his or her location to Mr. Wolde to change the outcome." (R. p. 760, line 25-p. 761, line 8). These two grounds, being the only grounds raised at trial, define and limit the scope of this Court's review. Thus, any JNOV arguments appearing in Lack's initial brief but *not raised* at trial are not preserved for review. *See RFT Mgmt. Co. v. Tinsley & Adams L.L.P.*, 399 S.C. 322, 331-32, 732 S.E.2d 166, 170-71 (2012) (holding grounds not raised in directed verdict motion are not preserved on appeal).

The trial court correctly found sufficient evidence of both time and proximity such that the issue of proximate cause was appropriately submitted to the jury. As noted above, testimony from Wubit and Adam established the drowning event lasted a long period of time and was estimated to have lasted an excruciating 10-15 minutes. (R. p. 731, lines 18-24). Ten to fifteen minutes is certainly more than enough time for properly staffed and trained lifeguards—who would be constantly scanning the water, as opposed to having their backs to the ocean performing commercial sales—to see the Wolde family's visible distress and hear their cries for help. Indeed, properly staffed, trained, and undistracted lifeguards would certainly have enough time to at least

attend to the bystanders unanswered calls for help. (R. p. 728, lines 1-4). Further, based on Wubit's testimony they were positioned close enough to see the beach and bystanders. (R. p. 728, lines 13-20). There is simply no excuse why a properly trained lifeguard would not be able to see or reach Mr. Wolde when untrained bystanders could. (R. p. 338, lines 17-24; p. 339, lines 3-10).

Further, based on Dr. Griffiths' testimony that Mr. Wolde was a distressed swimmer before he drowned, Lack's lifeguards should have observed his distress with enough time to respond. (R. pp. 2318-20). Lack's lifeguards, thus, could have and should have responded. Viewing this evidence in the light most favorable to Ms. Abel and construing all inferences in her favor, this evidence certainly exceeds the *any* evidence standard. This Court should, therefore, affirm the trial court's denial of JNOV as to proximate cause. *See Hurd v. Williamsburg Cty.*, 363 S.C. 421, 427-28, 611 S.E.2d 488, 492 (2005) (questions of proximate cause are traditionally for a jury to decide).

ii. Lack's arguments challenging standard of care and causation evidence are unpreserved but, even if preserved, the trial court committed no error.

Though Lack's provided no expert of its own, Lack's scrutinizes the trial court's reliance on Dr. Griffiths' opinion testimony. However, none of these challenges were raised to the trial court when Lack's moved for a directed verdict. Accordingly, they are not appropriately before this court. *See RFT Mgmt. Co.*, 399 S.C. at 331-32, 732 S.E.2d at 170-71 (holding grounds not raised in directed verdict motion are not preserved on appeal). But even if preserved, Lack's still fails to point to any evidence suggesting the trial court erred in denying directed verdict and JNOV.

Lack's first maintains that Dr. Griffiths opinions were based on facts that were contradicted at trial; however, this is misleading. For instance, Dr. Griffiths testified that if a lifeguard leaves his post unattended, he should close it down or ensure alternate coverage exists. Here, the L-21 guard who was allegedly at lunch did not have another guard to replace him, which is a violation

of the standard of care. That is not in dispute. Lack's argues, however, that there was no violation because the remaining two guards were tasked with covering the area left unattended as well as their own areas. Though Lack's may deem its alternative was sufficient, it is not in compliance with Dr. Griffiths' standard of care testimony.

Next, Lack's argues Dr. Griffiths was incorrect in stating Lack's had less than half the required "lifeguard only's" ("LGOs") on the day of the incident. However, Dr. Griffiths actual testimony was consistent with the evidence—he stated four LGOs were required and only three were present; he also noted that Lack's manager Holly Robinson testified that six were required and based on that testimony, Dr. Griffiths was correct in stating that only half the required LGOs were present. (R. pp. 2321-22). Nonetheless, whether Lack's was understaffed by half or by one is irrelevant because Lack's admitted to being short staffed. George Lack further admitted that that being short a "lifeguard only" in the section where Mr. Wolde drowned was enough to make a difference between life and death. (R. p. 593, lines 14-18)

As to Dr. Griffiths' testimony on dual-role lifeguarding, Lack's repeats its arguments that dual-role is somehow sanctioned by South Carolina law and the Franchise Agreement. But, as discussed above, this is disingenuous. Section 5-7-145 never mentions the term dual-role much less sanctions the practice. The same can be said for the Franchise Agreement, which is *not* the standard of care. Given the frailty of these arguments, and considering the testimony and sales records referenced above, there is ample evidence that Lack's dual-role practice was a breach of the standard of care that prevented a proper lifeguard response.

Lack's further criticizes Dr. Griffiths beach closure and warning testimony but Lack's arguments go not to the substance of the testimony but to the irrelevant fact that Dr. Griffiths had not visited Myrtle Beach or personally researched the weather conditions on the day of the

drowning. Given the National Weather Service warning, there was no need for Dr. Griffiths to visit the beach or conduct research. Further, while Lack's claims it posted red flags and imposed a waist deep limit for swimming, *none* of the witnesses on the beach that day saw any red flags nor were they aware of the rip current warning. (R. p. 337, lines 9-21; p. 375, line 20-p. 376, line 4; p. 379, lines 7-24). As Ms. Abel testified, there were no signs, no warnings and no indicator that the conditions were threatening. (R. p. 375, line 20-p. 376, line 4). Jeff Bender similarly testified that he saw no signs, no warnings, and no indicators of hazardous rip currents. (R. p. 337, lines 9-21).

Lack's goes on to make the illogical argument (without support by expert testimony) that the presence of a longshore current alone is not hazardous and only becomes hazardous when combined with other factors such as a rip current. However, there was no dispute that Lack's was made aware by the National Weather Service that both rip and longshore currents were present and that these conditions posed a safety risk. (R. p. 853, lines 16-20; p. 855, line 25-p. 856, line 21). Lack's further maintains there was no evidence that anyone identified a rip or longshore current prior to Mr. Wolde's drowning; however, this argument again overlooks the National Weather Service warning.

Finally, Lack's attempts to excuse its failures in this case by disclaiming that the staff member assigned to L-21 was on a regularly scheduled lunch break. However, even assuming the L-21 guard was at lunch, and assuming the other two lifeguards on duty were tasked with also overseeing the vacancy left by the L-21 guard, Lack's still violated the standard of care, according to Dr. Griffiths, because Lack's was one lifeguard short. (R. pp. 2313, 2321-22). As Dr. Griffiths testified: "[a] lifeguard is never supposed to abandon their post without someone else filling in for them, taking their stand, or closing the water. Otherwise, *it's a dereliction of duty.*" (R. p. 2311).

And, “in a surf environment, particularly one that is particularly hazardous, you need to either guard that stretch of water, that stand or you close it down, which is very easy to do.” (R. p. 2311).

None of Lack’s arguments come close to satisfying the relevant *no* evidence burden. Rather, the trial court heard abundant proximate cause evidence as to numerous standard of care breaches directly connected to the lack of lifeguard aid resulting in Mr. Wolde’s death. This evidence certainly exceeds the *any* evidence criteria to affirm the trial court.

iii. Lack’s challenge to the trial court’s reliance on multiple standard of care violations is not preserved for review; nonetheless, the evidence sufficiently established a jury question.

Lack’s further challenges the trial court’s reliance on multiple standard of care violations in establishing proximate cause, claiming that the multiple breaches cannot be reconciled. Again, this issue is not properly preserved for this Court’s review because it was not presented to the trial court when Lack’s moved for directed verdict at trial. *See RFT Mgmt. Co.*, 399 S.C. at 331-32, 732 S.E.2d at 170–71 (“[O]nly the grounds raised in the directed verdict motion may properly be reasserted in a JNOV motion.”).

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